ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether reversal is required where it is undisputed that behind the closed doors of the jury deliberation room, a U.S. Marshal responded to the jury's questions about the key physical evidence in this case—the firearm Steven Robin was charged with possessing—without the knowledge, presence, or input of the trial judge, Mr. Robin, or counsel, and, in doing so, made unilateral decisions affecting the jury's assessment of the evidence, which led the jury to handle the firearm in a different and more dangerous state than it was presented in the courtroom.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

Steven Robin was charged by indictment with one count of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm (Prior Conviction), D.C. Code § 22-4503(a)(1), one count of Carrying a Pistol Without a License (Outside Home or Place of Business), D.C. Code § 22-4504(a)(2), one count of Possession of a Large-Capacity Ammunition Feeding Device, D.C. Code § 7-2506.01(b), one count of Possession of an Unregistered Firearm, D.C. Code § 7-2502.01(a), and one count of Unlawful Possession of Ammunition, D.C. Code § 7-2506.01(a)(3). R-II at 216.¹ After a four-day jury trial before the Honorable James Crowell, a jury found Mr. Robin guilty of all counts. *Id.* at 582-83.

Fourteen days after the jury verdict, on November 29, 2022, Mr. Robin filed a motion for a new trial alleging violations of Superior Court Criminal Rule 43 and Mr. Robin's Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights during jury deliberations. Judge Crowell ordered the government to respond but did not hold a hearing, and denied the motion on January 9, 2023. R-II at 608, 622.

On April 18, 2023, Judge Crowell sentenced Mr. Robin to an aggregate term of twenty-two months' incarceration and three years' supervised release. R-II at 645. Mr. Robin filed a timely notice of appeal on May 18, 2023. *Id.* at 646.

This Court has jurisdiction under D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

¹ Citations to "R-I at *" and "R-II at *" refer to the electronic page number of the first and second volumes, respectively, of the record on appeal amassed by the Appeals Coordinator. Citations to "***/**/** at *" designate a particular month, day, year, and page of the transcripts.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Introduction

The central question for the jury in Steven Robin’s trial was whether Mr. Robin had tossed a firearm under a parked car or whether the firearm had been placed there—perhaps planted—by someone else. During deliberations, the jury asked to see the firearm, which had been admitted in evidence. A U.S. marshal brought the gun into the jury deliberation room. While in the deliberation room and without informing the trial court or the parties, the marshal answered the jury’s questions about the gun. In the course of this ex parte communication with the jury, the marshal unilaterally decided that the magazine, without ammunition, could be placed in the firearm—contrary to the way the firearm was presented in the courtroom during trial (according to usual practice) and contrary to the way it was found on the scene. A juror then conducted a “demonstration” with the firearm in which she tossed the firearm with the magazine, but no bullets, inserted. The marshal’s unilateral response to the jury’s questions, which affected the jury’s assessment of the evidence, deprived Mr. Robin of his right to a fair trial, and the trial court erred in denying a defense motion for new trial raising this constitutional error.

Evidence at Trial

On the evening of June 8, 2022, four Metropolitan Police Department (MPD) officers with the Violent Crime Impact Team (VCIT), a citywide gun interdiction unit, were on routine patrol in an unmarked sedan in Southeast D.C. 11/10/22 at 141-

42; 11/14/22 at 92-93.² Three of those officers—Bryan Madera, Brandon Joseph, and Emily Painten—testified at trial.³ The officers each testified that as they approached the 4800 block of Benning Road SE, they saw Mr. Robin talking to another person in the parking lot of the Benning Park apartment complex. 11/9/22 at 132-33; 11/10/22 at 146; 11/14/22 at 93. As the unmarked car approached the entrance to the parking lot, but before it turned in, Mr. Robin walked away from the other person and toward a parked SUV that was backed into a parking space in the lot.⁴ App’x B at 00:09-14 (parking lot surveillance video, admitted as Gov’t Exh. 2).⁵ Although Officers Madera and Joseph testified that they saw Mr. Robin, who was not wearing a belt, grab his waistband as he walked toward the SUV, 11/9/22 at

² VCIT, formerly called the Gun Recovery Unit (GRU), 11/10/22 at 183, 208; 11/14/22 at 91, was a citywide unit “designed to go out and recover illegal firearms within the District of Columbia,” 11/14/22 at 36.

³ Officer Joseph was sitting in the passenger seat of the unmarked police car, with Officer Painten behind him on the rear passenger side. 11/10/22 at 146; 11/14/22 at 93. Officer Madera was sitting behind Officer Minzak, who was driving the unmarked vehicle but did not testify at trial. 11/10/22 at 146; 11/9/22 at 133.

⁴ The officers never looked into who owned the SUV. 11/10/22 at 222-23. The government’s failure to obtain any surveillance footage from earlier in the day, which could have shown who else had access to the SUV or may have placed something under it, was a subject of litigation and part of the defense’s argument in closing. 11/9/22 at 36-59; 11/15/22 at 35.

⁵ Mr. Robin has filed a contemporaneous motion to supplement the record with the surveillance footage, which was admitted as Government Exhibit 2; Officer Madera’s body-worn camera footage, which was admitted as Government Exhibit 3; and Officer Joseph’s body-worn camera footage, which was admitted as Government Exhibit 6.

134, 177; 11/10/22 at 146, Officer Painten testified that she did not see such a movement, 11/14/22 at 98.

As Mr. Robin passed by the back of the SUV, he briefly squatted. *See* App’x B at 00:14-16. Officer Madera testified that Mr. Robin then “adjusted the front of his waistband as in like fixing his shirt” as he walked away from the SUV and toward the unmarked police car. 11/9/22 at 137. The defense argued that Mr. Robin had stopped to pick up a twenty-dollar bill, which was found in his pocket when he was searched incident to arrest. 11/14/22 at 102; 11/15/22 at 39. Officer Madera, however, “believe[d] because of [Mr. Robin’s] characteristics and his actions that he discarded a firearm, so [the officer] immediately exited [the] vehicle and approached [Mr. Robin].” 11/9/22 at 137. Officer Madera grabbed Mr. Robin and wrapped his arms around him in what the officer described at trial as a “bear hug.” *Id.* at 169; App’x C at 19:00:25-40 (Officer Madera’s body-worn camera (BWC), admitted as Gov’t Exh. 3). Officer Painten and another officer grabbed Mr. Robin’s arms as Officer Madera bearhugged him. 11/14/22 at 95; App’x B at 00:35-40. Within a matter of seconds, the officers had Mr. Robin in handcuffs, having heard the code word for a firearm from officers who had gone to look under the SUV. 11/14/22 at 95; App’x C at 19:00:49-55.

While Officer Madera went to restrain Mr. Robin, Officer Joseph, along with Nicholas Damron—another MPD officer who had arrived in a second unmarked police car—went toward the parked SUV. App’x B at 00:25-37; 11/9/22 at 177; 11/10/22 at 150. Officer Damron ducked to look under the car from the driver’s side and quickly gave the code word for the presence of a firearm, “1-800.” App’x D at

19:00:37 (Officer Joseph’s BWC, admitted as Gov’t Exh. 6). Officer Joseph, who was looking under the SUV from the back, almost immediately echoed, “1-800.” *Id.* at 19:00:38; 11/10/22 at 167. Officer Joseph’s BWC did not capture any view under the car from that angle, 11/10/22 at 167; App’x D at 19:00:36-39, and Officer Damron’s BWC was not on, 11/9/22 at 179. After giving the code word, Officer Damron walked away from the SUV toward another “scene” just up the hill in the parking lot, where officers had stopped a group of people. 11/10/22 at 47, 168.

Officer Joseph, meanwhile, went around from the back of the SUV to the passenger side, because he could not reach the firearm from the back. 11/10/22 at 169. This time, when he ducked to look under the SUV he “us[ed] [his] Body-Worn Camera to show the firearm under the vehicle.” 11/9/22 at 145; App’x D at 19:00:47-51. Although he was not authorized to recover firearms and was still wearing the tactical gloves he wore in the car (not clean gloves for handling evidence), Officer Joseph reached under the SUV and grabbed the gun by the magazine. App’x D at 19:00:15-58.

Officer Joseph testified that he grabbed the firearm right away due to what he called the “exigent circumstance[.]” of the presence of “a possibly loaded weapon.” 11/10/22 at 175, 183-84.⁶ He acknowledged, however, that the MPD general order

⁶ At the time that Officer Joseph grabbed the gun, there were no civilians near the SUV and multiple officers around—four police cars had arrived in the parking lot by this time. 11/9/22 at 167; 11/10/22 at 185-86. Even after Officer Joseph picked up the gun, the officers did not let people near the scene. Officer Minzak threatened to “pop” people in the face if they approached and repeatedly pushed someone who tried to retrieve Mr. Robin’s property. 11/10/22 at 187, 195-96.

governing “Crime Scene Response and Evidence Collection” instructed officers to “secure the scene and make sure the evidence is moved as little as possible,” in part to avoid cross-contaminating evidence with DNA or other biological materials. *Id.* at 174-75 (discussing MPD General Order 304.08). He further acknowledged that his unit, VCIT, was required to use crime scene technicians to recover firearms, *id.* at 183-84, and that he was not a crime scene technician, *id.* at 227; 11/14/22 at 71.

Although one of the MPD officers in the parking lot at the time Officer Joseph grabbed the gun—Allorie Sanders—was a certified crime scene technician, Officer Joseph did not seek her assistance and she did not handle the firearm on the scene (though she would later falsely assert in a crime scene evidence report that she was the person who recovered the firearm). 11/10/22 at 154; 11/14/22 at 41, 72-73.⁷ Instead, multiple other officers—none of whom were crime scene technicians trained in evidence recovery—participated in bagging the firearm. Officer Painten handed a paper bag to Officer Madera, who opened the bag by sticking his hand inside and swirling his hand around. App’x C at 19:01:03-16. While doing so, Officer Madera was wearing the same tactical gloves he wore when bearhugging

⁷ The crime scene evidence report falsely stated that Officer Sanders recovered the firearm and photographed it at the scene. 11/14/22 at 41-42. On cross-examination, Officer Sanders acknowledged that, a few weeks before her testimony in this case, she had admitted on the stand in another trial that she had made false statements in the crime scene report in that case. In that case, as here, she had reported recovering a firearm and photographing it on the scene, even though she had not. *Id.* at 77-79. Even after this issue came to light in that prior case, Officer Sanders told prosecutors in this case that she had recovered the firearm here. She did not realize that she had not personally recovered the firearm in this case until seeing her BWC video during trial. *Id.* at 81-82.

Mr. Robin with his hands on Mr. Robin's body. *Id.* at 19:00:34-40, 19:01:06-16. Officer Joseph then placed the firearm into the paper bag with the magazine still inserted, *id.* at 19:01:18-20, and took it to an MPD station about fifteen minutes away. 11/10/22 at 153-54.

Only at the station was the firearm handed off to the crime scene technician, Officer Sanders. 11/10/22 at 154. Officer Sanders put on "a new pair of gloves out of the box" and took the firearm out of the paper bag. 11/14/22 at 38. She dusted the firearm and magazine for fingerprints, but "there were no fingerprints on the firearm," *id.* at 48, even though Mr. Robin was barehanded on the scene, App'x C at 19:00:30-35.⁸ Officer Sanders also swabbed both the firearm and the magazine for DNA by "r[unning] the swab over quite a bit of the gun" to "pick up any potential DNA left behind." 11/14/22 at 50. In swabbing the gun, Officer Sanders paid particular attention to "the areas most likely to be touched," *id.*, including the parts of the magazine that someone would likely touch when loading the gun and that would likely touch someone's body if the gun were in their waistband, *id.* at 74-75.

A forensic DNA analyst tested the firearm swabs and determined that there were three contributors to the DNA on the gun. 11/10/22 at 107. Sixty-seven percent of the DNA mixture found on the firearm was attributed to "contributor one," an unknown individual. *Id.* at 108-10. A buccal swab taken from Mr. Robin matched "contributor two," whose DNA comprised thirty-one percent of the DNA mixture found on the weapon. *Id.* at 108-09. An unknown third individual contributed two

⁸ Officer Joseph wore tactical gloves when he picked up the gun. App'x D at 19:00:50-58.

percent of the DNA mixture. *See id.* As to the magazine, the DNA analyst estimated that the swabs included DNA from only two contributors, *id.* at 115, but the sample contained too little DNA to compare to any reference samples, *id.* at 101-02, 115-16. On cross-examination, the defense elicited testimony about how a person’s DNA could be transferred to a surface he did not touch, *id.* at 118-26, and defense counsel argued in closing that the officers transferred Mr. Robin’s DNA to the firearm when they mishandled the gun, 11/15/22 at 29, 36; *see* 11/10/22 at 118-19 (government’s DNA analyst testifying that bearhugging a person and then touching a bag could leave the person’s DNA on the bag).⁹

The firearm, magazine, and bullets were admitted as exhibits at trial. 11/10/22 at 158-60, 162.¹⁰ The magazine was not in the firearm while the gun was in the courtroom. *See id.* at 159-60; 11/14/22 at 46-47. When the gun was admitted into evidence, the trial court told the jury that “the U.S. Marshals ha[d] already cleared this weapon,” which had “been rendered inoperable.” 11/10/22 at 160. The

⁹ The defense tied this mishandling of evidence to the “by-any-means-necessary” mentality and aggressive tactics of the VCIT, formerly known as the GRU. 11/15/22 at 19-20, 26, 29-32, 38-40. The GRU came under scrutiny for its aggressive branding a few years before this trial, *see* 11/10/22 at 209-13 (Officer Joseph, a former GRU member, testifying about appearing in a photograph posing with a banner depicting guns, crossbones, and a skull with a bullet hole between the eyes, reading “Gun Recovery Unit” and “[v]est up one in the chamber”), and was the subject of an investigation regarding its practice of “patting people down for no reason” and “telling people to lift up their shirts to show . . . their waistbands,” 11/14/22 at 66.

¹⁰ There were fifteen bullets recovered from the firearm—fourteen in the magazine and one in the chamber. 11/14/22 at 53. The firearm was not registered and Mr. Robin did not have a license. 11/10/22 at 137. The parties stipulated that Mr. Robin had a prior conviction for purposes of D.C. Code § 22-4503(a)(1). 11/14/22 at 104.

government presented the firearm to two witnesses. Officer Joseph testified that the firearm was the one he recovered on June 8, *id.* at 158, and Officer Sanders testified that the firearm was the one she processed that day, 11/14/22 at 46. No witness conducted any demonstration with the firearm.

Jury Deliberations

The jury began deliberations at 10:54 a.m. on November 15. 11/15/22 at 47-48. When it started deliberating, the jury had in the jury room all the exhibits that were “admitted into evidence except for the weapon and the bullets.” 11/14/22 at 184. The trial court had given the jury the following instruction regarding the firearm, without objection:

If you wish to examine the weapon please let madam clerk know and we will have a U.S. Marshal come in and bring that to you. For security purposes, the United States Marshal will remain in the jury room while each of you have an opportunity to review the evidence. You should not discuss the evidence or otherwise discuss the case among yourselves while the Marshal is present in the jury room. You may ask to examine this evidence as often as you find it necessary to do so.

Id. at 184-85.

At 12:12 p.m., the jury sent a note asking to see the gun. R-II at 580.¹¹ The court did not inform either party of this note; defense counsel learned of the note the day after the jury verdict, when the note was filed on the docket. *Id.* at 585, 610. Defense counsel then spoke to jurors about what transpired while the marshal was in the jury room and learned that the marshal had communicated *ex parte* with the

¹¹ The jury sent a second note, stating that it had reached a verdict, at 2:45 p.m. R-II at 581.

jurors about the evidence, responding unilaterally to jurors' questions about their assessment of the gun.

Based on the statements of jurors, counsel filed a motion for a new trial on November 29, 2022. Counsel recounted in the motion that “[a] juror recall[ed] asking the marshal if the marshal could put the magazine in the gun,” and that, according to the juror, the marshal “responded in the affirmative and proceeded to place the magazine of the firearm into the gun.” R-II at 584, 586. The marshal also communicated with members of the jury about whether the bullets could be put into the firearm; the marshal “t[old] [the jurors] that they were able to put the magazine in the firearm but not the bullets.” *Id.* at 586. One juror then conducted a “demonstration” in front of the other jurors and the marshal, tossing the firearm—with the magazine, but no bullets, inserted—“to see if they could toss it as far as Mr. Robin in the short time the government claimed he did.” *Id.* Counsel alleged that, according to a juror, “[t]he jury initially believed that Mr. Robin bent down too quickly to be able to toss a firearm, but ultimately concluded that he would have been able to do so based on their experiments with the firearm.” *Id.* at 587. Further, at least one member of the jury had been “particularly curious about the magazine because she ‘wondered how [Mr. Robin’s] DNA could be on the firearm but not on the magazine.’” *Id.* at 586.

The defense argued that these events violated Superior Court Criminal Rule 43 and Mr. Robin’s Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights, requiring a new trial. In addition to arguing that Mr. Robin and his counsel had a right to be present when the court responded to the jury note asking to see the gun, R-II at 588-89, the defense

argued that the marshal's response to the jury's questions introduced extrinsic evidence, entitling Mr. Robin to a new trial, *id.* at 589-90. The defense pointed out that "the gun and magazine were always separate" during trial, and that the gun "had bullets in it at the time it was recovered." *Id.* at 590. Therefore, the marshal's response to the jury's questions led the jury to view the "evidence in an environment and setting that was both unlike how it was presented at trial and unlike the state it was in at the time it was recovered." *Id.* The defense argued that counsel should have been permitted to argue about the propriety of the jury observing and tossing the gun in that state. *Id.*

The trial court ordered the government to respond. R-II at 608. In its opposition, the government did not dispute the accuracy of the representations in the new trial motion or argue that the court could not rely upon them. Instead, the government accepted as fact that the marshal had engaged in *ex parte* communications with the jury, that the gun had been altered by the insertion of the magazine but not the bullets, and that a juror had tossed the gun in that state with the marshal present. *Id.* at 611, 616-21. As to the *ex parte* communications, the government argued that the "marshal's statements did not address the facts or the applicable law and thus did not constitute extrinsic evidence." *Id.* at 617. It further argued that the marshal's responses to the jury's questions "only implicated the safe handling of the firearm once it was properly being inspected by the jury," but failed to specify any "safety protocols" under which the marshal purported to be acting in deciding the state in which the jury could inspect the firearm. *Id.* at 617-18.

The trial court denied the motion for a new trial on January 9, 2023. R-II at 622-32. The court did not hold an evidentiary hearing, and instead assumed that the events occurred as set forth in the defense motion. *Id.* at 623, 629, 631. With respect to the alleged ex parte communications, the court concluded that the marshal’s statement “inform[ing] [the jurors] . . . what he could and could not do with the firearm as they examined it” was “for safety reasons” and “parallel[ed] the Court’s ministerial function.” *Id.* at 631. The court held that the ex parte communications did not warrant a new trial because they did not “touch[] on facts in controversy or law applicable to the case.” *Id.*¹²

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