BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-CF-432

Clerk of the Court Received 09/27/2024 01:18 PM Filed 09/27/2024 01:18 PM

STEVEN ROBIN,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB JACQUELINE YARBRO KATHLEEN HOUCK

- * DYLAN M. ALUISE D.C. Bar # 90018755 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Dylan.Aluise@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2022-CF2-3264

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

he participated in the jurors' deliberations of Robin's guilt. Nor is there any suggestion that he played any role in the jury's reenactment of Robin's gun toss or its evaluation of that demonstration. And this Court should not assume that the U.S. Marshal interacted with the jury in any such substantive way, as the trial court explicitly instructed jurors not to "discuss the evidence" or "otherwise discuss the case among yourselves while the Marshal is present in the jury room" (11/14/22 Tr. 184–85). See Gray v. United States, 589 A.2d 912, 918 (D.C. 1991) ("Juries are presumed to follow the trial court's instructions," and this Court "will not upset the verdict by assuming the jury declined to do so.") (citations omitted).

Rather, Robin's claim rests on the premise that the U.S. Marshal's discharge of his delegated administrative duty to supervise the jury's safe handling of dangerous evidence in the jury room is a critical stage of trial at which a defendant must be present. The case precedent does not support Robin's contention. For example, in *People v. Kelly*, the Appellate Division of the New York Supreme Court considered a defendant's claim that his right to be present at a stage of the trial was violated when a court security officer took a bayonet in evidence to the deliberating jury

but refused to let jurors handle the unsheathed weapon out of concern for juror safety. 11 A.D.3d 133, 138–46 (N.Y. App. Div. 2004), aff'd 832 N.E.2d 1179 (N.Y. 2005). In rejecting that claim, Kelly reasoned that the "officer's refusal to relinquish control of the bayonet" in response to the jury request was a "purely ministerial" action that was part of his "ministerial duty of safeguarding the jury." Id. at 143–44. The officer's safety guidance and his refusal to give jurors control of the bayonet "did not convey any legal instruction or impart any information to the jurors about the trial evidence." Id. at 144 (citation omitted). Accordingly, the "defendant had no right to be present when the officer refused to allow the jurors to have possession of the bayonet and sheath," as there is no right to be "present during jury deliberations" and no "right to be present when a court officer performs a ministerial task during [those] deliberations." Id. at 145 (citation omitted). The same conclusion follows here, as the U.S. Marshal enabled the jury to examine the firearms evidence safely and refused to load bullets into the magazine.

Federal precedents likewise support that a defendant has no right to be present when court staff performs ministerial tasks to facilitate the jury's review of the evidence. For example, in *United States v. Holton*, the D.C. Circuit rejected the defendant's claim that he had a right to be present when a courtroom clerk took audiotapes in evidence to the jury room and then remained to play the portions of the tapes that the jury asked to hear. 116 F.3d 1536, 1545-46 (D.C. Cir. 1997). As Holton reasoned, by performing the mechanical task of playing the audiotape that the jury asked to hear, the clerk's actions did not rise to a "stage of trial" implicating the defendant's right to be present or have counsel present. Id. (quoting Sobamowo, 892 F.2d at 96). Likewise, the Ninth Circuit found no violation of a defendant's constitutional or statutory right to presence when the jury requested to review parts of a video interrogation in evidence and the judge responded by sending a courtroom deputy to speak to the jury about the portions it wished to review. United States v. Martinez-Camargo, 765 F. App'x 205, 209-10 (9th Cir. 2019). As Martinez-Camargo explained, because there was no reason to presume that anything substantive was discussed about the facts or law of the case, this ex parte communication related to the jurors' review of the evidence was not a "stage" of the trial implicating the defendant's rights. *Id*. So too here.

In contrast to the ministerial actions in these cases and here, the cases that Robin cites (Br. 20, 27–30) all involved far more substantive exchanges between the jury and court staff. For example, Winestock v. *United States* involved a note from the jury asking to see evidence that had not been admitted at trial, which required a substantive response from the court describing what evidence the jury could consider during deliberations. 429 A.2d 519, 528 (D.C. 1981). Both Euceda and (Chris) Johnson v. United States likewise involved substantive notes from the jury asking for clarification on legal questions involving the elements of the offense or the effect of an affirmative defense, which required carefully crafted judicial responses. Euceda, 66 A.3d at 997–98, 1000–02, 1005–10; (Chris) Johnson, 804 A.2d 297, 302–03, 305–07 (D.C. 2002). Roberts v. United States similarly featured a juror note to the judge revealing a jury deadlock, the numerical division of that deadlock, and a juror's difficulties during deliberations, requiring the judge to exercise her judgment on how to instruct the jury to proceed. 213 A.3d 593, 594-99 (D.C. 2019).¹⁵

¹⁵ And although the jury's note in *Hallmon v. United States* asking the judge for a written copy of the instructions was not strictly substantive, (continued . . .)

Contrary to Robin's claims (Br. 30), the discharge of these ministerial tasks did not require the defense's presence. Robin could have addressed any concerns about the safety protocols relating to the firearm evidence or any potential prejudice arising from the jurors' examination of the firearm in the jury room when the trial court first proposed the procedures and instructed the jury. But Robin never objected. Nor is there any reason to believe that the defense would have had any substantive concerns about these procedures. And any quibbling over courthouse safety protocols within the U.S. Marshal's purview would have gone nowhere given that the judge generally followed these procedures (see 11/14/22 Tr. 184–85; A. 13 (Order p. 10)). Because Robin and his counsel "could have done nothing" had they been present "nor would they have gained anything by attending," Gagnon, 470 U.S. at 527

it was error for the judge's law clerk to intercept that communication intended for the judge to answer it instead of the judge. 722 A.2d 26, 27–28 (D.C. 1998). Here, by contrast, the jury never directed its non-substantive safety questions to the judge. Instead, the jury properly posed its questions to the U.S. Marshal whom the parties agreed would be present in the jury room for the explicit purpose of ensuring that the jury handled the firearm safely.

(cleaned up), their presence "would be useless" and the "benefit but a shadow." Walker, 982 A.2d at 741 (quoting Frye, 926 A.2d at 1103).

D. The Trial Court Did Not Plainly Err by Failing to Declare a New Trial, Sua Sponte, on the Ground that the U.S. Marshal Usurped the Judge's Authority to Preside Over a Stage of Robin's Trial.

In moving for a new trial, Robin never claimed that the U.S. Marshal presided over a stage of his trial (cf. R. 1236–47 (MNT)). Robin has forfeited that claim because he agreed to the procedure for transmitting the firearms evidence to the jury under the supervision of the U.S. Marshal (see 11/14/22 Tr. 184–85; A. 13). See, e.g., Young, 305 A.3d at 429–30. But even if Robin's claim were not procedurally barred, he raises it for the first time on appeal (Br. 16–27) and thus plain-error review applies. See Tyler, 975 A.2d at 859 n.44; see also Griffin v. United States, 144 A.3d 34, 36–37 (D.C. 2016) (applying plain-error review to unpreserved claims of ostensibly structural errors).

Robin fails to meet his burden to establish plain and obvious error because he cannot identify any critical stage of his trial that was presided over by anyone other than a Superior Court judge. Rather, he simply repackages his right-to-presence and right-to-counsel claims as a new

claim that the U.S. Marshal usurped the authority of the Superior Court judge and presided over his trial. The U.S. Marshal engaged in no such subterfuge. He did not preside over voir dire, such as the magistrate in *Gomez*, 490 U.S. at 876. He issued no rulings on pretrial motions. He never resolved any objections, received any testimony, nor admitted any exhibits at trial. He played no role in crafting jury instructions or deciding the parties' disputes over the law governing the case. He did not receive the verdict, enter a judgment against Robin, or sentence him for illegally carrying a firearm in the District of Columbia.

Nor did the U.S. Marshal adjudicate a substantive jury note, as Robin contends (see Br. 16–27). As detailed above, the trial court—following the procedures agreed to by the parties—directed the U.S. Marshal to take the firearm evidence to the jury room and to oversee the jurors' safe handling of that evidence (11/14/22 Tr. 184–85). The U.S. Marshal did not replace the judge or usurp judicial authority by going over basic safety guidelines with the jury for handling the fully operational firearm and live ammunition. See United States v. Desir, 257 F.3d 1233, 1237 (11th Cir. 2001) (collecting cases and noting that there

is no right to have a judge preside over "ministerial" and "mechanical" aspects of trial).

The U.S. Marshal's interaction with the jury here is no different than the bailiff's actions in *Kelly* when he unilaterally refused the jury's request to handle a bayonet during deliberations. 11 A.D.3d at 143–44. As *Kelly* explained, those actions were "neither a delegation nor usurpation of judicial authority" because they were "purely ministerial" acts that "fulfill[ed the officer's] ministerial duty of safeguarding the jury" that "did not convey any legal instruction or impart any information to the jurors about the trial evidence." *Id.* Therefore, the trial court did not err, let alone plainly err, in declining to grant a new trial, sua sponte, on the unpreserved claim that the U.S. Marshal presided over a stage of Robin's trial.

II. If There Were Error, Robin is Not Entitled to Reversal Under Any Standard.

A. Robin is Not Entitled to Automatic Reversal on Any Claim.

This Court should reject Robin's claim that he is entitled to automatic reversal due to structural error (Br. 32–34). Instead, this Court has consistently applied constitutional harmless-error analysis

where a defendant was denied presence or counsel at a stage of his trial. Euceda, 66 A.3d at 1006–07 (applying the harmless-beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard from Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967)); see, e.g., Roberts, 213 A.3d at 596–99; Van Dyke, 27 A.3d at 1125–30; Hallmon, 722 A.2d at 28; Winestock, 429 A.2d at 529–30; see also Rushen, 464 U.S. at 117–21 ("emphatically disagree[ing]" with principle that ex parte communications with the jury can never be harmless error).

Although the Supreme Court has recognized that harmless-error review does not apply when person without jurisdiction presides over a critical stage of a defendant's trial over the defendant's explicit objection, *Gomez* 490 U.S. at 876, this line of analysis does not assist Robin. Indeed, *Gomez* can be distinguished on its facts. Unlike the defendant in that case who expressly objected to having a magistrate judge preside over voir dire, *id.* at 860–61, 876, Robin was aware that the U.S. Marshal would play a ministerial role in facilitating the jury's safe handling of the firearm evidence and never objected to that procedure (11/14/22 Tr. 184–85). If anything, this case is analogous to *Peretz v. United States*, 501 U.S. 923, 924–39 (1991), in which the Supreme Court affirmed a conviction and rejected the petitioner's argument that *Gomez* required reversal

when a magistrate judge presided over voir dire with the consent of the parties. This Court in *Hallmon* also expressly rejected the argument that it was "per se" reversible error when a law clerk "improperly assumed the judge's authority" and "presided over" a stage of the trial by unilaterally responding to a jury note in the absence of defendant and his counsel. 722 A.2d at 27–28. Rather, the Court reviewed that claim for harmless error and affirmed the conviction. *Id*.

In any case, even assuming, for the sake of argument, that Robin has established error and that this Court will treat his latter unpreserved claim as structural, it remains Robin's burden to establish that this Court should exercise its discretion to reverse to prevent manifest injustice. *Keerikkattil v. United States*, 313 A.3d 591, 601–02 (D.C. 2024) (explaining that structural errors merely remove the defendant's burden under prong three of plain-error review) (citations omitted).

B. Reversal Is Not Warranted Because Any Error Would Be Harmless Beyond a Reasonable Doubt and Would Not Undermine the Fairness, Integrity, or Reputation of Judicial Proceedings.

Any error arising from the U.S. Marshal's limited interactions with the jury would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and would not warrant reversal to prevent a manifest injustice.

First, even if it were error, the U.S. Marshal's ministerial actions facilitating the jury's safe handling and inspection of the firearm could hardly have affected the verdict.

The firearm, magazine, and ammunition were all admitted into evidence (Exhs. 12a, 12b). Specifically, the jury heard testimony that investigators witnessed Robin's actions in the parking lot and suspected that he tossed a firearm when he ducked behind a parked SUV (11/9/22 Tr. 125–37, 174–75; 11/10/22 Tr. 41–43, 139–50; 11/14/23 Tr. 91–95). The jury saw surveillance footage capturing Robin squat behind the SUV, remove his hands from his waistband, and then move his hands toward the vehicle's undercarriage (Exh. 2b; see 11/9/22 Tr. 138–45). The jury received evidence that the firearm was loaded with a magazine when it was recovered (see Exh. 6b at 19:00:50–19:01:20; Exh. 8; 11/10/22

Tr. 155–57, 170) and that the magazine was later ejected from the firearm at the station when police processed it for DNA (11/14/22 Tr. 38). The jury learned about the various parts of the firearm, including where the magazine is loaded into the firearm through the receiver (11/10/22) Tr. 156–57). The jury was instructed, without any objection from Robin, that it could examine the firearm under the supervision of the U.S. Marshal who would be present for "security purposes" (11/14/22 Tr. 184– 85; see A. 6, 13 (Order pp. 6, 10)). And Robin's counsel argued to the jury that it would not have been possible for him to have discarded the firearm beneath the SUV in the "split second" before police arrived (11/15/22 Tr. 34–35). Robin cannot now claim prejudice because the jury critically evaluated the evidence, accepted his implicit invitation to test his theory of the case with the physical evidence, and followed the trial court's instructions on conducting that review. See Hawkins, 595 F.2d at 753 & n.7.

The jury had every right to examine the evidence at trial, including the firearm, to probe the parties' theories of the case consistent with the evidence. See supra n.12. Because the jury was at liberty to inspect the evidence by loading the magazine into the firearm and then replicating

the gun toss, there was nothing about the U.S. Marshal facilitating the jury's inspection of the firearm—in the exact manner that the jury requested—that could have prejudiced Robin and nothing to be gained by his or his counsel's presence. *See, e.g., Hallmon,* 722 A.2d at 28 (finding error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt when clerk responded ex parte to a jury note requesting a written copy of the instructions by informing jury that it could ask for any part of the instructions to be re-read in open court, which the jury had a right to do). ¹⁶

Instead, Robin's arguments about prejudice (Br. 36–40) rest on assertions that contradict the averments in his motion for a new trial. On appeal, he submits that it was the U.S. Marshal—not the jury—who made the "unilateral decision" to load the magazine into the firearm, to

Marshal's role supervising the jury's safe handling of the firearm.

procedures under which the jury could inspect the firearm and the U.S.

The U.S. Marshal's explanation of safety protocols to the jury was plainly a ministerial task unrelated to the merits or substance of the case. Indeed, this Court has recognized that even substantive ex parte communications between court staff and jurors may be harmless error, especially when the defendant fails to identify any concrete prejudice from his or his counsel's absence, as here. In (Chris) Johnson, this Court found that a clerk responding to a "substantive" jury note asking about application of affirmative defense to be harmless error because the defense had an opportunity to weigh in on a substantially similar note. 804 A.2d at 302–03, 306–07. Here, during the jury-instruction conference, Robin was afforded a similar opportunity to weigh in on the

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